STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

SEP 20 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000334

Carnie Norris,

Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Petitioner.

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.  
S.C. Bar No. 101260  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

##

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err in granting post-conviction relief due to the unobjected introduction of Norris' prior convictions for burglary and robbery in a trial for armed robbery where the law at the time of trial established the prior convictions were crimes of dishonesty, where Norris was caught in possession of the victims' property and the knife they described mere yards away from the scene of the crime, and where the Norris' testimony was an inconsistent, self-serving fabrication?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Carnie Norris is confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. Norris was indicted at the September 2008 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for armed robbery (2008-GS-42-05631). Beverly Jones, Esq., represented Norris, and Barry J. Barnette, Esq., of the Seventh Circuit Solicitor's Office,<sup>1</sup> prosecuted the case. On July 6, 2009, Norris proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury.<sup>2</sup> The jury found Norris guilty as indicted on July 7, 2009. Judge Cole sentenced Norris to imprisonment for a term of 18 years.

Norris filed a timely notice of appeal and a direct appeal was perfected by Kathrine H. Hudgins, Esq., filing a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), which raised the following issue:

In this armed robbery case, did the judge err in failing to instruct the jury on S.C. Code §§ 17-13-10, 20 dealing with the right of citizens to make arrests when appellant testified that he was making a citizen's arrest and not committing an armed robbery?

The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Norris' appeal by unpublished opinion. State v. Norris, Op. No. 2012-UP-226 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 18, 2012). The Remittitur was issued on June 19, 2012.

Norris filed his application for post-conviction relief on November 7, 2012 (2012-CP-42-04651). He alleged the following grounds for relief in his application, as summarized in the State's Return:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel, in that:

---

<sup>1</sup> Now the elected Solicitor for the Seventh Judicial Circuit.

<sup>2</sup> Norris was tried alongside his co-defendant Kenneth Wayne Chiles (2008-GS-42-05630), who was also convicted. Judge Cole sentenced Chiles to imprisonment for a term of eighteen years. (Appx. 344).

- a. Counsel failed to put the State's case through adversarial testing;
  - b. Counsel labored under a conflict of interest;
  - c. Counsel failed to challenge the outside influence by the bailiff;
  - d. Counsel abandoned her professional duties of loyalties to the applicant;
  - e. Counsel failed to motion for arrest of judgment;
  - f. Counsel failed to object to trial court's erroneous jury charge and supplemental jury charge;
  - g. Counsel agreed to the trial court's response to the jury's inquiry;
  - h. Counsel failed to object to trial court's burden shifting instruction;
  - i. Counsel failed to object to Applicant's Due Process rights being violated;
  - j. Counsel failed to object to reasonable doubt charge;
  - k. Counsel failed to object to trial court's constructive amendment of the indictment;
  - l. Counsel failed to object to the material variance in indictment/due process;
  - m. "Due process verdict."
  - n. Counsel partially argued to the jury a theory without any evidence to support it with all evidence clearly contrary to that theory;
  - o. Counsel failed to request/propose a jury instruction on the theory of defense;
  - p. Counsel allowed the alleged co-defendant's counsel to deprive applicant of a fair trial;
  - q. Counsel failed to object to solicitor's closing argument, pitting, vouching, blistering;
  - r. Counsel failed to "consult" with the applicant about appeal process/post-trial;
  - s. Counsel abandoned her duties of loyalty when she impeached defendant with a 1995 burglary second and a 1996 common law robbery conviction when it had been established that those particular convictions were inadmissible;
  - t. Counsel failed to exclude the name and basic nature of the Applicant's prior felony convictions;
  - u. Counsel used the rules of evidence against Applicant;
2. Trial court abuse of discretion, in that:
    - a. Trial court failed to exclude the name and basic nature of the Applicant's felony convictions;
    - b. Trial court erred in dismissing Applicant's post-trial motion and reconsideration motion as untimely;
  3. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, in that:
    - a. Appellate counsel failed to raise applicant's preserved issues on appeal;
    - b. Appellate counsel failed to comply with the mandates of Anders;

4. Sentence classification correction, in that:

- a. Applicant requests to be awarded 358 days to his present sentence starting from July 16, 2008, to July 9, 2009.

The State made its return on February 28, 2014, and an evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on September 15, 2014, before the Honorable Roger L. Couch. Norris was present at the hearing and represented by J. Brandt Rucker, Esq. Suzanne H. White, Esq., of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented Respondent. Both parties submitted written memoranda/briefs in lieu of closing arguments. By written order dated September 6, 2017, and filed September 6, 2017, Judge Couch granted the application for post-conviction relief on a single ground: "Trial counsel's consent to the introduction of the prior convictions, and her introduction of the prior convictions during her direct examination of the Applicant was error." (Appx. 505). The State filed a motion to alter or amend the order on September 25, 2017.<sup>3</sup> Judge Couch denied the State's motion by Order filed February 15, 2019.

This appeal follows.

---

<sup>3</sup> The State initially made its motion on September 12, 2017, and clocked it September 15, 2017. However, the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court void-clocked the filing due to a scrivener's error in the caption, which read **2014-CP-42-4651** instead of **2012-CP-42-4651**.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

- a. **The victims and witnesses consistently testified that they were out playing Frisbee-golf when Norris approached, forced Bond to the ground, identified himself as a security guard, rifled through Bond's wallet, and held Bond at knifepoint, and that there was no report of any burglary.**

At trial, victim Andrew Bond testified that on July 16, 2008, he and a number of friends were out playing Frisbee-golf near a medical clinic when he was pushed to the ground by a man from behind who asked him for his ID and told Bond that he was under arrest. (Appx. 113-15). The man reached in to take Bond's wallet and start looking through it. (Appx. 115, ll. 5-6). Bond identified the man as Respondent, Carnie Norris. (Appx. 115, ll. 7-23). When Bond asked to see Norris' badge, Norris pulled a knife out and held it to Bond's throat. (Appx. 116, ll. 1-7). Law enforcement later found a knife on Norris' person, which Bond identified at trial as the knife used in the assault. (Appx. 116, ll. 10-24; Appx. 123, ll. 9-14; Appx. 190, ll. 10-11). As the incident progressed, Bond tried to get up, but Norris put the knife to his throat and threatened to kill him if he tried to get away. (Appx. 117, 5-17). Once the co-defendant arrived on scene and began rifling through Bond's wallet, Norris continued to tell Bond to stay down and not move or Norris would kill him. (Appx. 117-19). Once Bond's friends began to pull up in their cars and the first police officers arrived, Norris and his co-defendant handed Bond his empty wallet and cell phone before walking across the street. (Appx. 119-20).

Herbert Blankenship,<sup>4</sup> a fellow Frisbee-golf player, saw Norris grab Bond, put him on the ground, announce he was a security officer and pull out a knife. (Appx. 144-45). As Blankenship and company approached Norris and Bond, Norris pulled the knife out, pointed it at the others, and told them to get on the ground. (Appx. 145-47). Blankenship identified Norris as

---

<sup>4</sup> Referred to at times in testimony by a nickname: "Hub."

the man who held the knife on Bond and the other witnesses. (Appx. 146-47; Appx. 160-61). Blankenship and his associates retreated and contacted security, who called the police. (Appx. 147-48). The group drove back to the scene and Blankenship directed his headlights at the area where Norris had Bond on the ground until law enforcement arrived. (Appx. 148-49). Blankenship identified the knife found on Norris as the knife used in the attack. (Appx. 149, ll. 15-22; Appx. 161, ll. 2-5).

Daniel Mayfield, another Frisbee-golfer with Bond and Blankenship, saw Norris approach Bond, put him on the ground, and remove his wallet. (Appx. 169-70). As Mayfield and the others approached Bond and Norris, Norris pointed a knife towards the group and told them to get on the ground. (Appx. 170, ll. 8-13). Mayfield identified the knife found on Norris as the knife used in the attack. (Appx. 170, ll. 14-19). Mayfield identified Norris as the attacker in court, and additionally identified co-defendant Kenneth Chiles. (Appx. 170-72). Mayfield and company fled the around the building and agreed they needed to call the police. (Appx. 172, ll. 4-23). Blankenship, who had left to retrieve his car, returned "a minute or two later" and the group left to alert a real security guard. (Appx. 172-73). Mayfield also testified that Norris identified himself as a security guard before removing Bond's wallet from his pocket and rifling through it. (Appx. 175-76; Appx. 183-84).

Officer Brad James, of the Spartanburg Public Safety Department, responded to a call about a disturbance involving "a friend being held at knifepoint," and found Norris standing over Bond with "a black object in his hand." (Appx. 186-87; Appx. 192-93; Appx. 209, ll. 2-6). James was not looking for anything related to a break-in as Norris later suggested. (Appx. 193, ll. 10-14; Appx. 204-05; Appx. 209, ll. 2-6). As James approached, the suspect "handed the black object back to the white male that was one the ground[,] and then walked across the street

to a house. (Appx. 187-88). The man on the ground told James the men had been robbing him after one identified himself as a security guard; the man's friends reported the same. (Appx. 188-89). James, after receiving backup from Officer John Guest, walked across the street to the still visible Norris and Chiles, and informed them that Bond and his friends accused them of robbing him. (Appx. 189, ll. 10-23). Both men initially denied possessing anything belonging to Bond, but Chiles surrendered a few cards from his pocket. (Appx. 189-90; Appx. 191, ll. 7-17). After receiving consent from Norris, James searched him and found a black-handled kitchen knife. (Appx. 190, ll. 4-11; Appx. 206, ll. 6-8). James took the knife and presented it to Bond, who identified it as the weapon used in the robbery. (Appx. 190-91).

Officer John Guest also testified law enforcement received two calls regarding a disturbance with weapons, which they found out later were from the Hangar security guard and one of Bond's friends. (Appx. 210, ll. 1-11). Guest testified that he arrived on scene and saw Norris and Chiles sitting on the porch of a house across the street. (Appx. 210-11). Guest spoke with James and both officers crossed over to interview Norris and Chiles. (Appx. 211, ll. 3-9). Guest explained that the men mentioned something about the Frisbee golfers being on the roof of the building, but that they only did so upon prodding. (Appx. 211, ll. 13-21). Guest asked for consent to search Chiles, who consented and handed over several of Bond's business and credit cards. (Appx. 211-12; Appx. 214, ll. 11-17). Guest saw James recover the black kitchen knife from Norris. (Appx. 212-13). Guest testified Bond identified the knife as the one used in the robbery. (Appx. 213, ll. 3-7). The officers then detained Norris and Chiles. (Appx. 213, ll. 8-12). Guest confirmed he never received a call in regard to a break-in in that area, and did not search the premises consistent with any such call. (Appx. 213, ll. 13-17; Appx. 217, ll. 10-22).

**b. Norris and Chiles testified that they were performing a “citizen’s arrest,” but were inconsistent with one another at trial, and inconsistent with Norris’ testimony at the evidentiary hearing.**

Both Chiles and Norris testified in their defense. Chiles testified first, and recalled that he fell asleep after watching television and drinking a single beer with a friend, only to be woken by Norris knocking on his door. (Appx. 240, ll. 2-15; Appx. 247, ll. 13-19; Appx. 248-49). Chiles testified Norris told him somebody was trying to break into a building, and asked to use his phone. (Appx. 240-41). Chiles retrieved his phone, put on a pair of pants, and went outside to see a tree shaking with two to three people on top of the building. (Appx. 241, ll. 10-22; Appx. 247-48; Appx. 252, ll. 6-18; Appx. 255-56). Chiles recalled that by the time he had put pants on and come back outside, Norris already had Bond sitting on the ground, with his hand on the man’s shoulder. (Appx. 241-42; Appx. 248, ll. 4-21; Appx. 256, ll. 7-11; Appx. 257-58).

Chiles testified Norris asked him to hold the man’s I.D., among a stack of other cards, so Chiles pocketed them. (Appx. 242, ll. 2-6; Appx. 243, ll. 9-24; Appx. 257, ll. 14-20). Chiles denied going through Bond’s wallet, or that he had even seen the wallet, despite his reported statement of having seen the cards fall out of Bond’s wallet. (Appx. 243, ll. 15-17; Appx. 246, ll. 6-22; Appx. 257, ll. 18-20; Appx. 259, ll. 20-25). The cards had been on the ground before Norris picked them up and handed them to Chiles. (Appx. 259, ll. 11-19).

Chiles testified that law enforcement arrived before he could call them, and that he had waited to see for himself what was happening before calling. (Appx. 242, ll. 7-11; Appx. 254, ll. 9-18; Appx. 256-57; Appx. 260-61). Chiles claimed they spoke to two or three officers before crossing the street to the porch, and that he surrendered the cards to the police when they approached the porch and asked about them. (Appx. 244-45; Appx. 260, ll. 1-16; Appx. 262-63). Chiles described the whole affair as a “citizen’s arrest,” and that had he known it was “just kids playing” he would have stayed in bed. (Appx. 242-43; Appx. 246-47). Chiles denied knowing

anything about the knife, or ever possessing a weapon. (Appx. 249, ll. 17-22; Appx. 258-59; Appx. 263, ll. 4-6). Chiles did not know why Norris had been out and about after midnight. (Appx. 254-55). Chiles denied hearing Norris identify himself as a security guard to Bond or anybody else. (Appx. 261-62).

Chiles' friend, A.C. Worthy also testified in his defense, and recalled that he and Chiles drank multiple beers while watching wrestling on television that evening. (Appx. 229-30). After wrestling ended, Worthy changed the channel to the news, and then heard Norris call for Chiles from the window. (Appx. 231, ll. 1-5). After repeated calls from Norris, Chiles finally got up and asked Norris what he wanted, and thereafter got dressed over the course of five to ten minutes. (Appx. 232-34). Worthy testified Chiles left, then came back to get his cell phone. (Appx. 234-35). Worthy did not know what happened after Chiles retrieved his cell phone, but recalled he "was sitting looking at the wrestling when the officers come back, and they had Mr. Chiles with them in handcuffs." (Appx. 235, ll. 7-13). Worthy testified he never heard sirens from patrol cruisers, only "some guys on the porch talking." (Appx. 236, ll. 12-19).

Norris testified he was walking up the street when he heard leaves rustle, prompting him to look up and see two people on top of the medical clinic. (Appx. 265-66). Norris summoned a sleeping Chiles, and explained something was occurring at the clinic. (Appx. 266-68). Chiles retrieved his cell phone, the two went over to the people near the clinic, and asked what they were doing. (Appx. 268-69). Norris testified that when he asked Bond who he was, Bond became afraid, pulled out his wallet and cell phone, produced cards from the wallet, and showed it all to Norris, but that he never actually possessed Bond's wallet. (Appx. 270-71; Appx. 276, ll. 2-9). Norris claimed Bond "just sat down because he knew – I guess he kind of figured he wasn't, he wasn't going to be able to move anywhere. So he sat down." (Appx. 271, ll. 5-10).

Norris denied preventing Applicant from moving or leaving, but also testified that he initially prevented Bond from fleeing by holding his arms out, and testified he instructed Bond to wait until police arrived. (Appx. 269, ll. 7-14; Appx. 271, ll. 11-22). Norris also denied using a knife during the interaction, but admitted to possessing a knife he used to clean fish earlier that evening, and that he alerted the police to it prior to the search. (Appx. 279-80). Norris asserted Bond just handed the cards over when he asked to see them, and dropped some others which Norris instructed Chiles to hold, inconsistent with Chiles' statement to Guest. (Appx. 259, ll. 7-25; Appx. 275-76). Norris and Chiles provided inconsistent testimony as to whether Bond actually had an identification card on his person. (Appx. 258, ll. 6-8; Appx. 276, ll. 13-19).

At the PCR evidentiary hearing, Norris attempted to present a claim of prosecutorial misconduct and, in the process, presented new facts. Norris testified he had not one, but *two* knives on his person that evening: a pocket knife in his right front pocket and a fish paring knife wrapped in a piece of paper in his back pocket. (Appx. 436, ll. 7-11). Norris testified that they were *taken* across the street to the porch by law enforcement, and that law enforcement again approached them with guns drawn and (impliedly) aimed. (Appx. 436, ll. 12-23). Norris turned his own inconsistent testimony on its head and accused the officers of perjuring themselves for (1) stating the search was consensual and (2) mentioning only the one knife. (Appx. 436-37).

**c. The prior convictions were admitted solely for impeachment, argued solely for impeachment, and comprised a very small part of the trial.**

Prior to the testimony of either defendant, the trial court took up the matter of impeachable prior convictions. (Appx. 225-28). The State asserted, Norris had two timely prior convictions: an October 12, 1995, conviction for burglary, second degree, non-violent; and a January 17, 1996, conviction for common law robbery. (Appx. 226, ll. 1-3). Counsel did not

object to the use of the convictions for impeachment purposes, but asked the solicitor to confirm that those were the only two convictions that would come up. (Appx. 227-28).

Near the outset of Norris' testimony, Counsel quickly drew the sting of his prior convictions before continuing on. (Appx. 267, ll. 6-20). Counsel asked Norris if he had suffered from a drug problem during that period of his life, which Norris admitted, and further explained "[t]hat was over 15 years ago," and that he had pled guilty. (Appx. 267, ll. 15-20). The State briefly questioned Norris on the subject at the end of cross-examination:

Q. And you've done robbery before, haven't you, Mr. Norris?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you've broke into buildings before, haven't you, sir?

A. Yes, sir. That's my past record. I hope that my past record will not do anything to harm me.

(Appx. 283, ll. 16-22). No details of the crimes were ever brought out before the jury. The State primarily focused its closing argument on the inconsistencies in the defendants' testimony, and briefly mentioned the priors in closing:

They want you to believe – these are two gentlemen that's been familiar with the criminal justice system. Both of them has been convicted of different offenses. And you heard what those offenses was. And that's part of what you can weigh with the credibility of their testimony. And the judge will tell you about that. It's called impeachment – impeachment. The defendants can be asked about it.

(Appx. 304-05). After the verdict, the State explained that for the prior burglary, Norris was sentenced to fifteen years, and for the robbery Norris was sentenced to fifteen years suspended to nine years and five years of probation to run consecutive to any other sentence. (Appx. 337-38). Records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections indicate Norris was released on parole from the prior convictions on or about January 29, 2004. (Appx. 534).

The trial court charged the jury at length regarding the burden of proof, the presumption of innocence, and reasonable doubt. (Appx. 312-15). The trial court additionally instructed the jury on the proper use of evidence of prior convictions, explaining:

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