STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Spartanburg County  
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

**ORIGINAL**  
**RECEIVED**  
FEB 03 2020  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

CARNIE NORRIS,

RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000334

\_\_\_\_\_  
RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

Judge Couch found Respondent met his burden of proving trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by a preponderance of the evidence. App. 508.

Based upon the analysis of the Bryant factors with the facts of this case, there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Trial counsel's errors in failing to oppose the introduction of the prior convictions, and worse, trial counsel's introduction of the prior convictions during the direct examination of [Respondent], create a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.

App. 509.

Judge Couch continued, explaining that “[i]f trial counsel had opposed the introduction of the two prior convictions it is more likely than not that the trial judge would have excluded the use of those convictions.” App. 509. “Absent the knowledge of these prior convictions, the jury would have been confronted with two competing versions of the event in question.” App. 509. In turn, “[t]he jury would not be focused on speculation about [Respondent]’s character, but would have instead have been required to determine whether the prosecution’s version of events was sufficient to prove to them that [Respondent] committed an armed robbery in this case beyond a reasonable doubt.” App. 509.

#### ***Motion to alter or amend***

In its motion to alter or amend, the state challenged Judge Couch’s finding that Respondent’s prior convictions were well in excess of ten years before his trial. App. 514. In the state’s view, Judge Couch applied Rule 609(b), SCRE, instead of Rule 609(a), SCRE, because he simply remarked that the prior convictions occurred over ten years prior to Respondent’s trial. App. 513-514. The state pointed out that “[a]lthough the conviction dates [were] past the ten-year mark, [Respondent] was released from confinement imposed for both convictions inside the ten year mark.” App. 514. To support this proposition, the state supplied Respondent’s SCDC records. App. 514.

Additionally, the state challenged Judge Couch’s finding that the trial court did not examine the facts and circumstances of the prior convictions in order to compare the probative

value and prejudicial effect of the convictions. App. 515. Again, the state accused Judge Couch of employing Rule 609(b), SCRE, instead of Rule 609(a), SCRE. App. 515. Nevertheless, the state admitted the Bryant factors controlled the analysis.<sup>2</sup> App. 515.

After putting forth its assessment of the factors as related to Respondent's prior convictions, the state concluded "[b]ecause it is arguable that the prior common law robbery would have been admitted and because the burglary would have almost certainly been admitted, it was reasonable for trial counsel not to have objected to their use for impeachment purposes." App. 516. Additionally, the state argued trial counsel employed reasonable trial strategy for failing to object to the admission of the prior convictions, despite the fact that none had been articulated by trial counsel. App. 516-517. Finally, the state continued to press its position that any deficiency was not prejudicial due to "the overwhelming evidence against him." App. 518; App. 520.

## **Discussion**

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Respondent must establish that counsel's performance was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms, and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997). Prejudice occurs where there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result at trial would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to under confidence in the outcome of trial. Strickland, supra; Johnson, supra.

---

<sup>2</sup> In its memorandum of law submitted after the PCR hearing, the state cited the five factors from State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (2005), as the ones to be considered by a trial judge when making a decision to admit prior convictions for impeachment purposes. App. 486.

Appellate courts give great deference to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). However, the appellate court reviews questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)). See also, Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018).

The Rules of Evidence permit the introduction of prior convictions for purposes of impeachment in limited circumstances. Pursuant to Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, “evidence that an accused has been convicted” of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused. However, “evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.” Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE.

### ***Error Preservation***

As an initial matter, the state's argument that Respondent's convictions were admissible pursuant to Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE, because they were considered crimes of dishonesty at the time of his trial is not preserved for review. In its memorandum of law presented at the PCR hearing, the state argued Respondent's prior convictions were admissible under Rule 609(a), SCRE. App. 486. While the state did not designate which subsection of the rule to which it was referring, it was clear the state was referring to Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, because the state described how the rule “require[d] a finding by the court that the probative value of admitting the evidence of the prior convictions outweighs the prejudicial effect to the defendant.” App. 486.

Further, the state cited to the five-factor test for determining admissibility. App. 486. “Under Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE, if a crime is viewed as one involving dishonesty, the court must admit the prior conviction because, prior convictions involving dishonesty or false statement must be admitted regardless of their probative value or prejudicial effect.” State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 517, 633 S.E.2d 152, 155 (2006).

Similarly, the state’s motion to alter or amend never argued the PCR judge by failing to analyze the admissibility of the prior convictions using Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE. Rather, the motion regurgitated what was contained in the memorandum of law with the additional twist of actually analyzing the prior convictions using the five-factor test applicable to convictions falling within the ambit of Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, and specifically, not applicable to convictions falling within the ambit of Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE. App. 515-516.

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must be raised to the lower court with sufficient specificity and ruled upon by the lower court. S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903 (2007). Counsel must state clearly the reasons for the objection. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 710 S.E.2d 55 (2011). In other words, the objection must be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge. State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (2005). In light of the state’s failure to raise this issue to the PCR judge, it is not preserved for appellate review.

If this Court determines the issue is preserved, this Court must reject the state’s argument that “[b]oth the prior common-law robbery and the burglary would have been considered under Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE, at the time of trial as crimes of dishonesty” because of State v. Al-Amin, 353 S.C. 405, 425, 578 S.E.2d 32, 43 (Ct. App. 2003). Pet. at 16. Just as the state argued in

State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468, 475, 779 S.E.2d 789, 792-793 (2015), the state posits that this Court's statement in Bryant that "a conviction for robbery, burglary, theft, and drug possession, beyond the basic crime itself, is not probative of truthfulness" was mere dicta. Pet. 16-17. Boldly, the state claims "Al-Amin remained good law in 2009." Pet. at 17. This Court quickly rebuffed the state's dicta argument in Broadnax. This Court must do the same here.

***Application of Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE***

In Horton v. State, 306 S.C. 252, 411 S.E.2d 223 (1991), this Court found trial counsel provided ineffective assistance based upon his erroneous advice concerning Horton's prior record. Trial counsel advised Horton not to testify in his own defense because counsel feared Horton would be cross-examined about two prior criminal convictions. This Court determined that one prior conviction, simple possession of marijuana, was clearly not admissible pursuant to governing legal rules and precedent. Turning to Horton's second conviction, this Court found that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to seek a ruling on the admissibility of the second conviction where the admissibility was within the discretion of the trial judge. Although the PCR court determined that trial counsel's advice was based on tactical decision, this Court found that errors of law were involved which were "rendered more egregious by lack of ambiguity in the law." Further, this Court found trial counsel's errors to have prejudiced Horton where the sole evidence against him was testimony of an undercover police officer concerning an alleged drug buy. Id. at 254-255, 411 S.E.2d at 224-225.

In Green v. State, 338 S.C. 428, 527 S.E.2d 98 (2000), this Court found trial counsel ineffective for failing to argue the prejudicial effect of the defendant's prior convictions outweighed their probative value. At Green's trial for distribution of crack cocaine and distribution of crack cocaine within proximity of a school, the prosecutor impeached Green with two prior convictions of

possession of crack cocaine and possession of cocaine. Id. at 431, 527 S.E.2d at 100. Although this Court declined to hold that all similar prior convictions are inadmissible, this Court held that trial courts must weigh the probative value of the prior convictions against their prejudicial effect to the accused and determine in their discretion whether to admit the evidence. Id. at 433-434, 527 S.E.2d at 101. This Court held the trial counsel's failure prejudiced Green where his credibility was critical because the jury was forced to choose between his version of events and those expressed by flat agents. Id. at 434, 527 S.E.2d at 101. Rejecting the state's argument that any error was cured by the trial court's limiting instruction, this Court found persuasive authority in a Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals case:

Admission of evidence of a similar offense often does little to impeach the credibility of a testifying defendant while undoubtedly prejudicing him. The jury, despite limiting instructions, can hardly avoid drawing the inference that the past conviction suggests some probability that the defendant committed the similar offense for which he is currently charged.

Id. at 434, 527 S.E.2d at 101 (quoting United States v. Beahm, 664 F.2d 414, 418-419 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981)).

At the PCR, the parties seemed to agree that the factors announced in Bryant governed whether Petitioner's prior convictions were admissible.

When considering whether to admit prior convictions, a trial judge should consider the following factors: (1) the impeachment value of the prior crime; (2) the point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history; (3) the similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4) the importance of the defendant's testimony; and (5) the centrality of the credibility issue.

Bryant, 369 S.C. at 516, 633 S.E.2d at 155. This is the exact test used by the PCR judge.

Contrary to the state's contention, the PCR judge properly analyzed the first factor and his findings are supported by the record. The PCR judge recognized that common law robbery and burglary are not crimes that inherently point to dishonesty, and therefore, they provided little

impeachment value. The PCR judge also correctly pointed out that the state – at trial and the PCR hearing – failed to offer any additional evidence about the two prior convictions in order to prove its allegation that they offered significant impeachment value. While the prior convictions may have offered some impeachment value, it was very low in light of the nature of the crimes involved.

Turning to the second factor, consideration of the point in time of the conviction and the witness’s subsequent history, Judge Couch did not “look[] back only to the date of the conviction, rather than the date of release as required by Rule 609(b), SCRE.” Pet. at 18. Rather, Judge Couch analyzed exactly what the second factor required – consideration of the point in time of the conviction and the witness’s subsequent history. It was undisputed the two prior convictions were from 1995 and 1996 and the state failed to show any subsequent criminal history. Further, Judge Couch was well aware that Respondent was in prison for a significant period of time for those offenses, and that upon his release, he had no subsequent criminal history. Quite simply, Judge Couch made a factual finding that Respondent’s prior convictions were too remote to offer much, if any, probative value as to credibility.

Regarding the third factor, the state conceded “a fundamental similarity between strong-arm robbery and armed robbery.” Pet. at 19. However, the state faulted the PCR judge for “fail[ing] entirely to note the dissimilarity between the prior burglary and armed robbery.” Pet. at 19. To the contrary, Judge Couch analyzed the third factor sufficiently. While the state correctly notes that “[r]obbery involves different conduct than burglary,” the state asks this Court to supplant its judgment for that of Judge Couch. He examined the prior convictions and determined they were sufficiently similar such that this factor weighed in favor of exclusion.

Finally, the state argued that Judge Couch erred in declaring Respondent's testimony and credibility essential because he "ignore[d] counsel's advice to her client that he not testify, but instead rely exclusively on the helpful testimony of co-defendant Chiles." Pet. at 19. To the extent Judge Couch ignored trial counsel's testimony at the PCR hearing that she advised Respondent not to testify, it was entirely within Judge Couch's prerogative to give the evidence presented the weight it deserved and to assess the witnesses' credibility. A simple review of the transcript alone showed Respondent's testimony was critical to his defense as Chiles was not present for the entirety of his interactions with the alleged Frisbee players. Further, a simple review of the transcript revealed the central role Respondent's credibility played in the trial because the entirety of the case boiled down to whether the jury believed the state's witnesses or Respondent and Chiles. The solicitor even argued to the jury that there were "two sides that are so diametrically opposed on what happened that night. You've got the state's version and you've got the defendant's version." App. 304, ll. 15-18. He asked the jurors, "[w]hich side do you want to believe? Do you want to believe them or the state's witnesses? That's what it comes down to, ladies and gentlemen." App. 310, ll. 19-21.

Trial counsel's deficient performance in failing to move to exclude the prior convictions was prejudicial to Respondent. To the PCR judge, the state argued any deficient performance was not prejudicial due to overwhelming evidence of guilt. To the extent, the state's position in its petition is different, it is not preserved for review. Nevertheless, the state's argument of overwhelming evidence of guilt must fail. First, "[o]rdinarily, the existence of 'overwhelming evidence' does not automatically preclude a finding of prejudice." Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 189, 810 S.E.2d 836, 844 (2018). In order for overwhelming evidence to serve as a categorical bar to preclude a finding of prejudice, the "evidence must include something conclusive, such as